NO. 45250-2-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS – STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

JENNIFER LINTH Appellant,

V.

CARL GAY, Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, FOR CLALLAM COUNTY

The Honorable Keith Harper, Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

THOMAS E. SEGUINE, WSBA # 17507 COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

1023 South Third Street Mount Vernon, WA 98273 Ph: (360) 755-1000

I. INTRODUCTION

Jennifer Linth, the Plaintiff below, hereby seeks review of the decision of the Honorable Keith Harper, Superior Court Judge of Clallam County, dismissing her malpractice claim against Carl Gay, the Defendant below, on summary judgment, based upon the court's opinion that Mr. Gay, an attorney representing first trustor Evelyn Plant, in drafting and amending her trust, and later after here death Dan Doran, the successor trustee, never owed any duty of care or loyalty to Ms. Linth, the principal and primary beneficiary of that trust. The decision from which appeal is taken was issued by Judge Harper on November 2, 2011.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Assignments of Error

1. The trial court erred in granting summary judgment dismissal of Linth's malpractice claim against attorney Carl Gay.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Whether an attorney ostensibly representing a trustor owes a duty of care to the primary beneficiary of a fully executed trust with testamentary provisions, in drafting such document, to ensure the beneficiary's share of the estate is preserved and passed according to the legally appropriate wishes of the trustor?

- 2. Whether an attorney representing a trustee of a testamentary trust trying to resolve competing claims to the trust corpus caused by that attorney's own defective draftsmanship owes a duty of loyalty to the primary express trust beneficiaries, in interpreting and rendering legal opinions to the trustee as the validity and effects of such defective draftsmanship?
- 3. Whether an attorney who drafts a defective trust document, causing competing claims to the trust corpus, can later provide objective legal counsel to the trust on issues related to the defective document?
- 4. Whether an attorney representing a trustee of a testamentary trust trying to resolve competing claims to the trust corpus caused by that attorney's own defective draftsmanship breaches a duty of loyalty to the primary trust beneficiary by failing to disclose such conflict of interest and failing to secure a conflict waiver from the primary trust beneficiary?
- 5. Whether an attorney representing the trustee of a testamentary trust trying to resolve competing claims to the trust corpus caused by that attorney's own defective drafting has a duty of loyalty to the trustor to ensure that the trustor's express wishes to disinherit a party are honored?

- 6. Whether the trial court erred in concluding there was no issue of material fact as to whether Carl Gay owed a duty of reasonable care to Jennifer Linth in drafting the Evelyn Plant Irrevocable Trust?
- 7. Whether the trial court erred in concluding there was no issue of material fact as to whether Carl Gay owed a duty of loyalty and care to Jennifer Linth in representing the trustee and the trust, suffering from defects of his own making, after the death Evelyn Plant?
- 8. Whether the trial court erred in concluding that there was no issue of material fact as to whether Carl Gay owed a duty of loyalty to Jennifer Linth, a vested benefiticary of the Evelyn Plant Trust, following the death of Evelyn Plant?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Statement of Facts

The following were represented as uncontested facts at the summary judgment proceeding before Judge Harper:

- 1. Mrs. Evelyn Plant was competent to sign her trust and estate planning documents on July 22, 2000 and August 22, 2000, and until shortly before her death. CP 241.
- 2. Mrs. Evelyn Plant passed away on January 1, 2001. Here estate value was approximately \$3 million. CP 37, Ex. L.

- 3. Mrs. Plant owned and lived on a remarkable piece of property commonly referenced as Green Point. CP 241.
 - 4. Mrs. Plant was a widow since 1981. Id.
- 5. Mrs. Plant engaged Mr. Gay, an attorney at law specializing in estate planning, to assist her in estate planning in somewhere around 1995. CP 37, Ex. A, (billing statements of Carl Gay, 1999); T (10-9-2001 email from. C. Gay to W. Olsen).
- 6. Mr. Gay always knew that Mrs. Plant wanted to provide for Jenny Linth and that from early on she wanted Jenny to have some form of a life estate in Green Point; he repeatedly acknowledged his knowledge and belief in such fact and his full awareness of it in multiple documents both before and after the death of Mrs. Plant. CP 37, Ex. A (Feb. 99 billing); B; E,, J-1, K, N, O, P, R, S, T, U, V, W, X, Z,A1,D1, E1.
- 7. Mr. Gay, acting as attorney at law for Mrs. Plant, prepared a set of estate planning documents for Ms. Plant in the fall of 2000 which included a trust with testamentary provisions. *Id.* No other attorney participated in the drafting of these documents. CP 241.
- 8. The testamentary provisions of the July 22, 2000 trust provided Jenny Linth with the opportunity to live at the main residence at Green Point for a limited number of years at no cost, except to participate in the maintenance of the property, and then a life estate on a to be determined

from a "carve out" parcel on/from Green Point. She was also specifically provided the right to collect rents from the guest house on the property. CP 37, Ex. B.

- 9. The July 22, 2000 version of the trust, in it original form, had no reference to any foundation, foundation plan or exhibit to be attached somehow to the trust. *Id.* The trust originally provided for a residuary gift of the Green Point property to Crista Ministries. *Id.* Ms. Plant was designated as the trustee. *Id.*
- 10. Mrs. Plant signed the trust document on July 22, 2000 with Mr. Gay notarizing her signature. The signing occurred at Green Point. 1d., Ex. A (July 2000 CLG billing).
 - 11. Mrs. Plant never revoked the July 22, 2000 trust. CP 239.
- 12. On August 15, 2000 Mrs. Plant met with Claudia Smith, Louis Torres, Jenny Linth, Holly Johnson and John Linth to learn about a plan for a proposed nonprofit foundation for Green Point. On that day, after getting the information she felt she needed, she said "Let's do it". CP 37, Ex. V, 2.
- 13. On August 16, 2000 Mrs. Plant resigned as trustee of her trust and allowed Mr. Doran to succeed her. She also allowed him to act as her attorney-in-fact. She wanted Doran to "carry out the details of the project". *Id*.

- and Mr. Doran, her banker, about these changes to her estate plan. The foundation would supplant and replace the then currently named Green Point beneficiary, Crista Ministries; additionally, Mrs. Plant then wanted a broader life estate gift to be written in for Jennifer Linth. She was to be able to live on the property, for life, at no cost to Ms. Linth. *Id., Ex. C; E1.* A letter that Mr. Gay sent to Mrs. Plant anticipated an appointment at his office the next day, August 18, 2000 at 4 pm. The letter included a copy of the then proposed first amendment to the trust. *Id.*
- 15. Mr. Gay, acting as attorney at law for Mrs. Plant, is the only attorney who drafted the proposed amendment. CP 239.
- 16. The scheduled office meeting on August 18, 2000 is not reflected in the time records of Mr. Gay, which were extensive. CP 37, Ex. A (August 2000 billing). Further the Gay time records contain no other entries, ever, of any further communications with Mrs. Plant up to the date of her death on January 1, 2001. Id i
- 17. On August 21, 2000 Mr. Gay conducted an office meeting withDan Doran and Claudia Smith. During the meeting Mr. Gay was informed

¹ Mr. Gay has asserted by declaration that Mrs. Plant's death was sudden and that he was not aware of her possible worsening condition. There is nowever as October 10, 2000 time entry on his bill that reflects a telephone call with Mr. Doran to discuss "hiring home health care employees".

of a need to make revisions to the proposed first trust amendment that he had drafted on or before August 17, 2000. *Id.*, Ex. A; DI; EI.

- 18. By August 22, 2000 Mr. Gay had prepared another draft of the first amendment which contained an error, namely, the wrong middle initial for Mr. Doran. *Id.*, *Ex. D&E*. The draft also contained an underscored blank for the dating of the document: "this _____ day of August, 2000". *Id.*
- 19. Mr. Gay, in drafting (or redrafting) the proposed first amendment included the following language about the establishment of a nonprofit foundation which would eventually receive Green Point:

trustee shall convey the Groon Point residence, together with the sum of Fifty Thousand Bollars (\$50,000.00), to a nonprofit corporation and tax-exempt private foundation to be created by trustee in accordance with the terms set forth on the document entitled "THE FRANKLIN AND EVELYN PLANT GREEN POINT FOUNDATION PLAN" (hereinafter "the Foundation plan"), a copy of which is attached

hereto marked Exhibit I and by this reference incorporated herein as though sat forth in full. The gift of cash and the Green Point residence to the Foundation shall be subject to the following conditions, restrictions, and covenants to be contained in the trustee's deed to the Foundation:

(a) for a period of time measured by the

20. On August 22, 2000 Mr. Doran came to Mr. Gay's office, got the current draft of the amendment and brought it to Mrs. Plant, who signed it. *Id., Ex. A; D; E; V; D1, E1.* Mr. Doran corrected the errors with his middle initials on pages one and three of the document with interlin-

eations. Neither Mr. Doran nor Mrs. Plant inserted a date on the blank line for the date on page 1 of the document. Mr. Doran later that day returned the document to Mr. Gay, signed by Mr. Doran and Mrs. Plant. *Id.*, Ex. D, D1, E1.

- 21. Mr. Gay revised the first page of the signed document to fix the error with Mr. Doran's middle initial; he could not do the same with the third page because of the signatures. *Id.*, *Ex. E.* He also replaced the blank line for the date: "the 22nd day of August, 2000". According to his time records, presumably, this occurred on August 22, 2000, indicating that he had seen the document returned, in signed form from Mrs. Plant on that day. *Id. Ex. A (Aug. 2000 billing)*.
- 22. The signed amendment provided for a life estate for Jennifer Linth in Green Point. Id., Ex. A (see e.g. August billing); E; K
- 23. Ms. Smith immediately began working on the foundation. *Id. Ex.F-J, V.* By August 30 she had presented a draft plan by email to Mr.

 Doran, which included a list of directors which included several members of the Linth family, to which Mr. Gay eventually claimed to be inconsistent with the intentions of Ms. Plant. Mr. Doran immediately sent an email to Ms. Smith that indicated that the plan looked acceptable and that it reflected a lot of work she had done. *Id., Ex. G.* He voiced no objection to the composition of the board which included Doran and Gay.

- Id. Ex. V. Jennifer Linth was to be the lead person for the foundation, although there was some debate about how extensive her role was to be. Id., Ex. F-J, V.
- 24. There was a meeting held at Green Point on September 28, 2000, with Mrs. Plant present and participating, during which that plan was discussed. Mrs. Plant had no objections to the proposed membership of the foundation board. *Id.*
- 25. In November 2000 Mrs. Plant spoke with her longtime Pastor from her local church, Jon Fodge. Mrs. Plant's health was failing. She confided in the Pastor about several matters. One of them was that she had made arrangements for Jenny Linth for Jenny's life, so that she would be able to live at Green Point without any cost because Jenny Linth had helped her and so many other people without asking for anything in return. *Id., Ex. C1*.
- 26. On November 28, 2000 Ms. Smith sent Doran an email containing a list of the foundation expenses to date, along with a budget and spreadsheets which included a list of directors which included the Linths. Mr. Doran did not object. *Id. Ex. I.*
- 27. As indicated above, Mrs. Plant passed away on January 1, 2001.

- 28. On February 21, 2001, Ms. Smith again contacted Mr. Doran and again provided him the same foundation plan again, to which there was no objection. *Id.*, *Ex. J.*
- 29. Mr. Gay and Doran were in the process of forming the foundation in March of 2001, and Mr. Gay was then telling outside parties that Ms. Linth had a life estate in Green Point. *Id.*, Ex. J-1; K.
- 30. With the oversight of Gay providing legal counsel to the estate and trust, the trustee made a series of large distributions to various beneficiaries, including Jennifer Linth, before the estate tax issue was settled and paid Id., Ex.M. These distributions were dubious as they threatened the ability of the trust to dispose of Green Point according to the wishes of Mrs. Plant. Id., Ex N; S, W, Y.
- 31. By July 2001 Mr. Gay was learning in no uncertain terms that the trust documents he had drafted were defective and that various parties were taking competing positions on their validity, including Crista Ministries who, by all accounts (including their own) had been effectively disinherited. *Id. Ex. O; X; Z.* Crista had been unaware of the apparent drafting issue until Mr. Gay disclosed it to them, apparently under the auspices that he had a duty to do so. CP 132, 143.
- 32. On or about July 11 and 13, 2001, Mr. Gay received correspondence from an estate planning attorney who Mr. Gay had

researched and determined to be an expert in estate planning matters, Dean Butler, from the Seattle law firm Stokes, Lawrence P.S.. Mr. Gay had previously arranged for Mr. Butler to be hired by the trust to review the validity of the first amendment that Mr. Gay had drafted. Mr. Butler's correspondence plainly stated and opined, in various places, that Mr. Gay likely had a conflict of interest in continuing to represent the trust in this matter because he had drafted the underlying documents – the July 22, 2000 trust and the August 22, 2000 First Amendment. CP 37, *Ex. P.*

- 33. Mr. Gay disregarded the conflict warnings in the Butler documents and continued to represent the trust. He never disclosed the Butler correspondence to Jennifer Linth. The bill for the Butler law firm was paid out of the trust. Mr. Gay never formally withdrew from representing the trust. CP 239.
- 34. By roughly October of 2001, Mr. Gay had decided that the document that he himself had drafted, namely the First Amendment, which granted a life estate to Ms. Linth, was defective and "failed" because the "Exhibit 1 to be attached" a clause he himself drafted did not occur before the death of Mrs. Plant. *Id.* This was inconsistent with the position originally taken by Gay following the death of Mrs. Plant, by the attorneys for Ms. Linth, and by the opinion and report of Mr. Butler,

who Mr. Gay had hired as an expert on that precise issue; Mr. Butler's bill was paid by the trust, and not by Mr. Gay. CP 37, Ex. U.

- 35. Ms. Linth's attorneys petitioned the court for some interpretation of the Gay documents. In response Gay, acting on behalf of unrepresented beneficiaries, insisted that they be notified of the action. *Id.*, *Ex. Q, T.*
- 36. Ms. Linth has never received a life estate in Green Point in any form to this date..
- 37. Ms. Linth has incurred extraordinary attorney fees in litigating this matter against the trustee and his attorney Carl Gay. She was forced to spend her own money on attorney fees prior to June of 2001; virtually all of the \$100,000 gift she received from Mrs. Plant in June of 2001 was necessarily spent on attorney fees to address the defective draftsmanship of the first amendment, and the fallout therefrom.
- 38. Ms. Linth remains indebted to various attorneys for the legal fees she incurred in the estate litigation following the exhaustion of the \$100,000 gift from Mrs. Plant. CP 239.
- 39. The culmination of the Linth petition was a "global" settlement agreement, called the NJDRA (Non-judicial Dispute Resolution Agreement) which required Linth to abandon her life estate claim to Green Point. In lieu of it the property would be sold and some cash settlement made with Ms. Linth and the other estate claimants, including the

generally acknowledged disinherited Crista Ministries. The presupposition of the NJDRA was that the drafting of the estate plan was defective. CP 37, Ex. Y

- 40. A later settlement of the estate litigation specifically excluded this malpractice action against Mr. Gay by Ms. Linth. CP 239.
- 41. As of this date, Ms. Linth does not have a life estate in Green Point, notwithstanding the fact that she has lived there over the ensuing time and dutifully and faithfully maintained the property for the benefit of the trust with little or no compensation.

Procedural History

The complaint filed in the malpractice case alleged that Mr. Gay is liable to Ms. Linth because, inter alia, he defectively drafted the operative estate planning documents here, namely the trust and the first amendment, such that Ms. Linth was deprived of her life estate and, by consequence, the \$100,000 gift she had received from Mrs. Plant. The complaint also alleges that he committed malpractice in the administration of the trust following the death of Mrs. Plant. CP 913.

Mr. Gay eventually moved for summary judgment on all claims brought by Ms. Linth arguing that Mr. Gay never had any legal duty toward Ms. Linth, as his duty was only to Mrs. Plant in drafting the trust and the first amendment, and only to the successor trustee, Mr. Doran,

following the resignation and death of Mrs. Plant. A hearing on this issue was conducted before Judge Keith Harper in the fall of 2013. Judge Harper granted the motion for summary judgment and dismissed all claims of Ms. Linth against Mr. Gay on October 18, 2013. CP 22. This appeal timely followed. CP 14.

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Carl Gay owed a duty of care to Jennifer Linth in drafting the Evelyn Plant irrevocable trust naming Jennifer Linth as its primary beneficiary. He owed that same duty of care when he redrafted that document with the socalled "First Amendment", especially as the redraft increased the substantial gift to Ms. Linth. Mr. Gay violated the duty of care with the his flawed drafting. That flawed drafting led to a decade of litigation that devoured all of the other benefits Ms. Linth was to receive from the trust; all of her money was spent on legal bills. Especially following the death of Mrs. Plant, Carl Gay owed a fiduciary duty of loyalty and care to not only the trustee of the irrevocable trust, but also to the Jennifer Linth, as the primary trust beneficiary. Mr. Gay violated these fiduciary duties by 1) continuing to represent the trustee despite the clear conflict of interest, 2) representing the trustee in the litigation directly derived from his own defective draftsmanship, 3) disclosing his "defective" drafting to disinherited third parties leading directly to claims by such parties effectively depleting the

estate, 4) charging the trust for his own services while suffering from a conflict of interest, 5) hiring an expert to review drafting issues of his own making and charging such expert fees to the trust, 6) failing to provide full and open disclosure to trust beneficiaries of some or all of the foregoing, and 7) engineering a settlement process and agreement that sought to insulate him from liability for his own defective drafting while simultaneously depriving Ms. Linth of a life estate on the subject property. Absent full disclosure of his conflicts of interests and waiver by all those so affected and impaired, especially Ms. Linth, Mr. Gay should have resigned from representing any party in this matter immediately upon his realization of any one of those conflicts. The trial court decision must be reversed because it failed to account for these facts, relying instead on an inappropriate application of certain legal standards concerning the scope of an attorney's duties in the estate planning setting.

V. ARGUMENT

1. The summary judgment standard.

A motion for summary judgment should not be granted unless the pleadings, depositions, and affidavits on file show that there is no genuine issue of material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Hontz v. State, 105 Wn.2d 302, 311, 714 P.2d 1176 (1986). The appellate court engages in the same inquiry as the trial court, and all

evidence and inferences are considered in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. <u>Id.</u>

In such cases facts and all reasonable inferences therefrom must be insidered in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, and summary judgment should be granted only if, from all the evidence, reasonable persons could reach but one conclusion. The burden is on the moving party to demonstrate that there is no issue as to a material fact, and the moving party is held to a strict standard. Since the plaintiff's evidence raised genuine issues of material fact with regard to whether the defendants acted negligently and whether such negligence, if any, was a proximate cause of the injuries, these issues are not properly decided on summary judgment.

Atherton Condominium Apartment-Owners Ass'n Bd. of Directors v. Blume

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