MIXCIB Wd

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II 2014 SEP 25 PM 1: 15 STATE OF WASHINGTON BY.

NO. 45250-2-II

# COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF WASHINGTON II

### JENNIFER LINTH AND THE ESTATE OF CAROLYN LINTH; THE EVELYN PLANT TRUST, AND THE FRANKLIN AND EVELYN PLANT GREEN POINT FOUNDATION,

Appellants.

v.

CARL GAY AND ROBIN A. GAY, HUSBAND AND WIFE, AND THE MARITAL COMMUNITY COMPOSED THEREOF; GREENAWAY & GAY, A WASHINGTON LEGAL PARTNERSHIP; GREENAWAY, GAY & ANGIER, A WASHINGTON LEGAL PARTNERSHIP; GREENAWAY, GAY & TULLOCH, A WASHINGTON LEGAL PARTNERSHIP; and DANIEL W. DORAN and CAROL DORAN, HUSBAND AND WIFE, AND THE MARITAL COMMUNITY COMPOSED THEREOF,

Respondents.

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT GAY**

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

Over one year passed and during that interval, Ms. Fink failed to have the draft will formally executed. *Id.* Upon Mr. Balko's death, a beneficiary, Parks, was deprived of the benefits he would have received if the subject will had been properly and timely executed. *Id.* at 371-72. Parks brought a claim against attorney Fink, contending that Fink owed a duty to him, a non-client beneficiary of the estate of Mr. Balko. *Id.* at 373.

The *Parks* court considered *only two* of the *Trask* factors: (5) the policy of preventing future harm and (6) the extent to which the profession would be unduly burdened by a finding of liability. *Id.* at 378. Parks' claim was summarily dismissed by the trial court and Parks appealed. Division I, in affirming the trial court, concluded its opinion with these words:

Parks argues that absent a duty, he lacks a legal remedy against Fink. Imposing a duty even under these circumstances could diminish the attorney's duty of undivided loyalty to the client and impose an untenable burden on the attorney-client relationship. On balance, we conclude that the risk of interfering with the attorney's duty of undivided loyalty to the client exceeds the risk of harm to the prospective beneficiary. For the reasons discussed above, we join the majority of courts that have considered the issue and hold that an attorney owes no duty of care to a prospective will beneficiary to have the will executed promptly. *Id.* at 388-89 (emphasis supplied).

The Court considered the burden imposed upon the legal profession by allowing claims by non-clients against attorneys and found that, except in limited instances as discussed above, the allowance of such claims would unduly burden the legal profession. *Id*.

Understandably, the Linths are attempting to distance and distinguish their appeal from the holding in *Parks*. However, the *Parks* decision is dispositive. The Linths *must* somehow distinguish their case

from *Parks*. As Judge Harper ruled as a matter of law, *Parks* is indistinguishable from the case at bar.

In *Parks*, a will was written but the testator failed to properly sign the will. This is, in effect, what happened here as Evelyn failed to properly execute the Amendment to the Trust. (RP 10/18/13 at p. 39, ll. 6-11). Specifically, Evelyn signed the Amendment to the Trust (which had been properly executed) which amendment changed the dispositive scheme of the Trust, giving the Linths a greater interest in Green Point. However, Evelyn failed to properly sign the Amendment because there was no foundation plan yet in existence and thus none attached to the Amendment, contrary to the incorporation by reference of a foundation plan. Thus, the Amendment, just like the updated will in Parks, failed and the distribution of property was not changed per the Amendment.

The *Parks* court considered "whether a duty is owed to an intended beneficiary where the attorney fails to ensure the decedent executes the will promptly." *Id.* at 379. While the Linths continually attempt to steer this Court *away* from the *Parks* decision through false assumptions, misstated facts, and an incorrect understanding of the law, Judge Harper's analysis, as identified above, is on point. Of course, unlike the facts of *Parks*, the Linths have an alternate recourse against the trustee, Doran. *Id.* at 387.

Imposition of such a duty upon a lawyer in Gay's position would create a conflict of interest between the client, third party beneficiaries (not only the Linths but the residuary charitable beneficiaries), and the attorney. The prospect of pressuring a client to formalize a testamentary document, for fear of liability to any beneficiary, detracts from an attorney's absolute duty of loyalty to the client. *Parks* at 388-89.

Washington courts have found that a conflict of interest arises in estate matters whenever the interest of the personal representative or trustee is not harmonious with the interests of an heir or beneficiary. Trask, 123 Wn.2d at 844. Because estate proceedings may be adverse, Washington courts disfavor finding "stray" duties to third party beneficiaries. Id. Specifically, the "[e]xistence of a duty to an adversary party beyond the courtesy and respect owed all participants in the legal process...would interfere with the undivided loyalty an attorney owes a client and would diminish an attorney's ability to achieve the most advantageous position for a client." (internal citation omitted). Bowman v. John Doe, 104 Wn.2d 181, 189, 704 P.2d 140 (1985). Indeed, in no instance has a Washington court found liability to a third party adversary. Bowman, 104 Wn.2d at 188-189. Furthermore, a recent Washington State Supreme Court case held "that an alignment of interests is insufficient to

support a duty of care to a non-client." Stewart Title Guar. Co. v. Sterling Sav. Bank, 178 Wn.2d 561, 569, 311 P.3d 1 (2013).

The conflict between Evelyn and later Doran (Gay's clients) and the non-client Linths is very apparent here. Gay knew and understood the wishes of his client, Evelyn. In this case, the arising of a conflict of interest is reflected in the fact Evelyn apparently did not agree with, or at least did not approve, any foundation plan(s) crafted by Jennifer Linth's sister. Claudia Smith, and thus Evelyn was not ready to provide a plan to Gay for attachment to the Amendment. Although Gay was not the person charged with creation of the foundation plan, and was not involved in Doran's (his client) decision to retain the services of Claudia and monitor her progress, he (as did Doran) understood that the post-death foundation "plan" proffered by Claudia was not in conformance with Evelyn's oftenstated wishes. In fact, Evelyn had never intended for Green Point to become the Linth's private family retreat center. (CP at 266, 598). Neither Gay nor trustee Doran could agree that Claudia's proposed plan was in conformance with Evelyn's wishes and Gay (concurring with Doran) could not support it as that would have violated his duty of loyalty to his clients. Id.

The Linths are correct in stating that Gay had a duty. They are incorrect in asserting that the duty was owed to them. Courts should not

lightly abandon the long-established rule of privity between an attorney and client. Further, the attorney's duty of loyalty, established by law, tradition, and the Rules of Professional Conduct, must not be lightly abandoned.<sup>1</sup>

# D. The Trial Court did not fail to consider the time period after the resignation and death of Evelyn Plant.

Following Evelyn's resignation as trustee and her later death, Gay owed a duty of loyalty to his client, Doran, throughout his representation. Gay's duty was to act in Doran's best interests, not the financial interests of any non-client beneficiary(ies). Contrary to the Linths' assertions, the trial court fully evaluated the time period after Evelyn's death as related to Gay's representation of Doran. In rendering his decision, Judge Harper said,

In my view, after Ms. Plant died, there was a trustee, there was a personal representative of the estate. Mr. Gay was representing them. And under the Trask case, to me it's fairly clear -- and I don't see anything to the contrary -- to me it's fairly clear that Mr. Gay owed his duty to the trustee and the personal representative, and I think Trask is accurate. I mean, the -- if he was doing something wrong and giving bad advice and everything else to the trustee or the personal representative, the trustee or the personal representative could have discharged him, could ultimately sue him. The heirs, if they felt like something was going

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> While Gay believes that other Trask factors are also in his favor, given the fact that Linth has resided at Green Point for the past 14 plus years and will ultimately receive a large sum of money upon its sale, Judge Harper did not make a ruling based on those factors.

awry, they could have taken the matter to court and petitioned to remove the trustee and the guardian.

. . .

But the point is, is the heirs of the estate, the heirs of the trust had other remedies, pretty obviously, after Plant died, and I don't -- and I think under the Trask case that Mr. Gay did not owe a duty to those beneficiaries.

. . .

I would decide that as far as post-death, Mr. Gay owed no duty to the (Linths) when he was acting as attorney for the trustee and the personal representative.

(RP 10/18/13 at p. 36, ll. 13-23, p. 37, l. 6-10, p. 38, ll. 7-10) (emphasis supplied).

The Linths concede that the Trustee has the active role in the administration of a trust and makes all final decisions for trust administration. It is well-established law in Washington that a beneficiary can maintain an action against a trustee for failure to properly administer a trust.

However, a trustee's attorney has a fiduciary duty to the trustee. The Linths' continual and critical focus on Gay's recommendation to Doran that all beneficiaries under the Trust and the Amendment be included in the litigation and settlement negotiations is misplaced, as it was Gay's ethical obligation to do so as the attorney for trustee Doran, not because he owed the beneficiaries any sort of duty. Once again, the Linths misstate the facts and the record below.

The Linths claim that their interests and Evelyn's interests are in complete alignment, and thus there is no issue regarding the duty of loyalty. And here is precisely the problem: the Linth's failure to appreciate that their interests *cannot* be neatly aligned with Evelyn's interests. It should be abundantly clear from the record before this court that the Linths were never the sole or even primary beneficiaries of any trust or testamentary provisions of Evelyn Plant. This misunderstanding is central to the issue of this appeal, and is precisely why Carl Gay did not and could not serve both the Linths and his other clients, Evelyn and later Doran. Of course, the logical extension of the Linths' argument potentially grants a cause of action to any beneficiary against the attorney who drafts a will or a trust. More to the point, this analysis of the Linths confuses the identity of the trustee and the beneficiary, both of whom, by logical necessity, must be separate entities. The attorney cannot represent both.

#### E. The Trial Court did not rule on negligence.

The Linths raise, for the first time, an argument that Judge Harper should have considered the alleged negligence of Gay. Leaving aside the untimeliness of this argument, Judge Harper never reached the issue of whether or not Gay was negligent, nor was such consideration necessary, because Gay did not owe the Linths any legal duty. As such, the Linths' accusations are irrelevant here because, as Judge Harper decided, Gay

does not owe the Linths a duty as non-client beneficiaries of a trust before or after Evelyn died. Under *Trask*, the threshold question is whether Gay owed a duty to the Linths. As a matter of law, Judge Harper ruled that he did not.

The case cited by the Linths, *Gordon v. Deer Park School Dist. No* 414, 71 Wn.2d 119, 426 P.2d 824 (1967), simply states that when a duty is defined by law and is the same under all circumstances, then the court can dismiss claims. Here, given the legal discussion above and the well-established Washington law related to legal malpractice and to whom a duty is owed, it is clear that it is a matter of law, not one to be determined by a jury. In any event, arguments not raised in the trial court should not be raised for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a); *Link v. Link*, 165 Wn. App. 268, 279, 268 P.3d 963 (2011).

F. The Trial Court correctly granted Gay's motion for summary judgment against the Trust and the Foundation because the statute of limitation for legal malpractice had expired.

Washington law provides a three year statute of limitation for attorney malpractice claims. *Cawdrey v. Hanson Baker Ludlow Drumheller, P.S.*, 129 Wn. App. 810, 816, 120 P.3d 605 (2005); RCWA 4.16.080. Washington policy favors an applicable statute of limitation shielding a defendant from stale claims. *Crisman v. Crisman*, 85 Wn.

App. 15, 19, 931 P.2d 163 (1997). Any rule which tolls the statute of limitations is in conflict with these policies. *Janicki Logging & Const. Co., Inc. v. Schwabe, Williamson & Wyatt, P.C.*, 109 Wn. App. 655, 662, 37 P.3d 309 (2001).

Here, the trial court ruled that "the statute of limitations expired before this claim was made by the Trust and the Foundation and...on that basis the claim should be dismissed. I accept Gay's declaration that he no longer represented the trust after 2004." (RP 6/21/13 at p. 37, Il. 14-19). The Trust and the Foundation provided no evidence to the contrary to rebut Gay's declaration that he was not involved in trust matters after 2004, nor have the Linths done so on appeal, despite their bountiful number of exhibits. Instead, they rely on mere argumentative statements that Gay should have presented better evidence, including a declaration from Jennifer Linth's brother-in-law and subsequent trustee, Glen Smith. However, the Linths had ample opportunity in their trial court briefing to produce information from Glen Smith, or any other source with probative evidence, to rebut Gay's factual declaration. They failed to do so because Gay was not involved in trust matters after 2004, as he stated in his unrebutted declaration. As such, it is clear that the statute of limitations for the claims of the Trust and the Foundation expired at the end of 2007, two years before this claim was brought by the Linths and four years before the Trust and Foundation filed their motion to intervene. The tolling agreement Gay signed with the Linths did not include any claims by the Trust or the Foundation.

In their opening brief, the Trust and the Foundation object to the consideration of Gay's June 14, 2013 declaration. (CP at 350). However, Gay relied on his knowledge of the facts at issue here and when he ceased his representation of Doran. Whether or not Gay's declaration contains legal arguments is irrelevant on appeal. His declaration contains factual assertions, including that he was no longer involved in trust matters after 2004, and the Linths have failed to provide any evidence to the contrary.

However, even if the trial court had relied on a later date for the three year statute of limitations to commence running, the latest date possible would be October of 2005, when the NDRA was signed by all parties and entered by the trial court. As part of the NDRA, Doran resigned as trustee. Therefore, no reasonable argument can be made that Gay was involved in any Trust or Foundation matters after October 2005. After Doran resigned as trustee in October of 2005, Glen Smith, Claudia's husband and Jennifer Linth's brother-in-law, became the successor trustee of the Trust. As such, he had access to all Trust documents, including the letter from Dean Butler to Doran citing a possible conflict of interest and negligence claim against Gay. However, Smith did not bring any action

against Gay or Doran in his three years as trustee. When Smith resigned as trustee in September of 2008, Jennifer Linth became trustee. Yet it was not until October 7, 2011 (more than three years later) before she moved to intervene in this action (which she started in her personal capacity in December of 2009) on behalf of the Trust and the Foundation. Regardless, any action by Jennifer Linth would have failed in 2009. As has been previously shown, the statute of limitations ran against the Trust and the Foundation in October of 2008, at the absolute latest.<sup>2</sup>

i. The Trial Court considered continuous representation in their analysis and correctly found that the statute of limitations ran against the intervenors.

The intervenors also claim that continuous representation applies, as discussed in the *Janicki Logging & Const. Co., Inc. v. Schwabe, Williamson & Wyatt, P.C.* case. Again, that point is moot. Gay no longer represented the Trust nor, under the Linths' theory, could he have "started" the Foundation as he was no longer representing the trustee (who, under the Amendment, had the obligation to create the Foundation). Any claim the continuous representation rule has an effect on the outcome here must fail, as Gay was no longer involved in any trust matters beyond

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In the intervenors' opening brief, they suggest, without proof or support in the record, that neither Glen Smith nor Jennifer Linth had all trust documents during this time.

2004, or at the latest, 2005, when the NDRA was signed and Gay's client, Doran, resigned as trustee.

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